AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE CARDINAL COMMUNITY SCHOOL DISTRICT

AND

THE CARDINAL EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

2015-17 Extended through 2017-18



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article I	Recognition	
Article II	Procedures for Negotiations	4
Article III	Grievance Procedure	4
Article IV	Association Rights	6
Article V	Reduction of Staff	7
Article VI	Insurance	
Article VII	Wages and Salaries	9
Article VIII	Employee Evaluation	11
Article IX	Sick Leaves & Emergency Leaves	
Article X	Health Provisions	15
Article XI	Safety Provisions	16
Article XII	Vacancies	16
Article XIII	Dues Deduction	16
Article XIV	Employee Hours	17
Article XV	Transfer Procedures	17
Article XV	Teacher Quality Committee	
Article XVII	Basic Agreement	
Schedule I	Salary Schedule	
Schedule II	Extra Duty	21
Schedule III	Supplemental Duty Pay	
Grievance For	m	
Letter of Unde	rstanding	

ARTICLE I RECOGNITION

The Board of Education of the Cardinal Community School District recognizes the Association as the certified exclusive and sole bargaining representative for all personnel as set forth in the PERB certification instrument (Case 413) issued by the PERB on the19th day of November, 1975, and who are employed by the Cardinal Community School District. The bargaining unit is as follows:

<u>INCLUDED</u>: Anyone regularly employed by the Cardinal Community School District as a full or regular part-time teacher, librarian, guidance counselor, ESEA teacher, nurse, learning disabilities teacher, special education teacher, and who holds a current valid certificate from the State of Iowa for any of the positions.

<u>EXCLUDED</u>: All of those not listed above and employed by the Cardinal Community School District, including but not limited to teacher aides, substitute teachers, cafeteria workers, bus drivers, secretaries, janitors, and all other employees specifically prohibited by law.

The term "Board" as used in this Agreement shall mean the Board of Education of the District or its duly authorized representatives.

The term "Employee" as used in this Agreement shall mean all professional employees represented by this Association in the bargaining unit as defined and certified by PERB.

The term "Association" as used in this Agreement shall mean the Cardinal Education Association or its duly authorized representatives or agents.

ARTICLE II PROCEDURES FOR NEGOTIATIONS

Section A <u>Initialing Tentative Agreements</u> If both parties agree, articles tentatively agreed to may be initialed by each party, dated, and set aside subject to final ratification of the agreement. Section B <u>Request for Meetings</u>

Request from the Association for negotiation meetings shall be made through the Superintendent of Schools.

Section C Negotiation Teams

Neither party in negotiations shall have control over the selection of the bargaining representatives of the other party.

ARTICLE III GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

SECTION A. A grievance shall mean only a complaint that there has been an alleged violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of any of the specific provisions of this Agreement.

SECTION B. (a) Every teacher or group of teachers, or the Association, covered by this Agreement shall have the right to present grievance in accordance with these procedures. Teachers on layoff will have the right to file grievances.

(b) The failure of a teacher (or, in the event of an appeal to arbitration, the Association) to act on any grievance within the prescribed time limits will act as a bar to any further appeal and an administrator's failure to give a decision within the time limits shall permit the grievant to proceed to the next step. The time limits, however, may be extended by mutual written agreement.

(c) In the event that any grievance goes beyond the third step, a teacher or Association representative shall not lose any pay due to time lost on the day or days of the hearing.

(d) Any employee shall be free to adjust individual complaints without Association representation if he or she so desires. However, the Association must be made aware of any of those adjustments in writing, and must be allowed to grieve the adjustment if they are inconsistent with the contract.

SECTION C. (a) First Step

In the event of an alleged grievance, the staff member shall fill out a form provided by the school requesting that an attempt shall be made to resolve any grievance in informal, verbal discussion between the complainant and his or her principal within ten (10) school days of the occurrence of the alleged contract violation. If the Principal is unavailable during that period, the employee may proceed to level two provided that they have notified the Principal's secretary in writing.

(b) Second Step

If the grievance cannot be resolved informally, the aggrieved teacher shall file the grievance in writing, and, at a mutually agreeable time, discuss the matter with the principal. The written grievance shall state the nature of the grievance, shall note the specific clause or clauses of the Master Contract that are being grieved, and shall state the remedy requested. The filing of the formal, written grievance at the second step must be within twenty (20) days from the date of occurrence of the event giving rise to the grievance. The principal shall make a decision on the grievance and communicate it in writing with reasons to the teacher and the Superintendent within ten (10) school days after receipt of the grievance. The principal should also give a copy of the written response to the Association.

(c) Third Step

In the event a grievance has not been satisfactorily resolved at the second step, the aggrieved teacher shall file, within ten (10) school days of the principal's written decision at the second step, a copy of the grievance with the Superintendent. Within ten (10) school days after such written grievance is filed, the aggrieved and Superintendent shall meet to resolve the grievance. The Superintendent shall file an answer within ten (10) school days of the third step grievance meeting and communicate it in writing to the teacher and the principal. The Superintendent should also make a copy of the disposition available to the Association.

(d) Fourth Step

If the grievance is not resolved satisfactorily at Step Three, there shall be available a fourth step of binding arbitration. The Association may submit, in writing, a request on behalf of the Association and the grieving teacher to he Superintendent within ten (10) school days from receipt of the Step Three answer to enter into such arbitration. The arbitration proceeding shall be conducted by an arbitrator to be selected by the two parties within seven (7) days after said notice is given. If the two parties fail to reach an agreement on an arbitrator within seven (7) days, the PERB will be requested to provide a panel of five (5) arbitrators. Each of the two parties will alternately strike one name at a time from the panel until only one shall remain. The remaining name shall be the arbitrator. The decision of the arbitrator will be binding on the parties.

Expenses for the arbitrator's services shall be borne equally by the School District and the Association unless an individual teacher has chosen to adjust a grievance without Association help. In this case, expenses shall be borne equally by the School District and the individual teacher. The arbitrator, in his opinion, shall not amend, modify, nullify, ignore or add to the provisions of the Agreement. Authority shall be strictly limited to deciding only the issue or issues presented in writing by the School District and the Association and the decision must be based solely and only upon interpretation of the meaning of application of the express relevant language of the Agreement.

ARTICLE IV ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

SECTION A. Use of Facilities

The Association shall have the right to hold meetings on school district property before or after the regular school working day provided such meetings in no way interfere with the teachers carrying out any of their assigned duties. Any out-ofpocket expenses to the District resulting from such meetings will be borne by the Association. Such meetings will be scheduled with the District Superintendent's office.

SECTION B. Communications

The Association shall have the right to use faculty mailboxes/e-mail for communications relating to the conduct of the negotiating agent business on behalf of the members of the negotiating unit. Such materials shall contain no derogatory information about any individuals or any group of individuals.

The Association will be provided with bulletin board space in each school. Only authorized representatives of the Association will use the bulletin boards for Association announcements and all materials posted will relate only to the Association official business as negotiating agent of the teaching staff. Such materials shall contain no derogatory information about any individuals or any group of individuals.

SECTION C. Machines & Equipment

The use of equipment such as computers and copy machines, when such equipment is not in use, will be granted by the building principal when use of such does not interfere with the normal educational process. The Association will pay actual cost for materials and supplies incidental to such use plus any maintenance cost resulting from the use thereof. Requests for use will occur so as not to cause out-of-pocket expense to the District.

SECTION D. Access to Information

The Association shall be furnished on request regularly and routinely prepared information concerning the financial condition of the School District including the annual financial report and adopted budget. Nothing herein shall require the administrative staff to research and assemble information.

ARTICLE V REDUCTION OF STAFF

SECTION A.

(1) Seniority in the teaching area within the Cardinal School System.

Seniority is defined as the number of years that an employee has worked for Cardinal Community Schools from initial date of hire in a position that would meet all of the criteria necessary to be covered by this Master Contract as defined in Article 1. Part time employees will accrue seniority on a prorated basis.

(2) Seniority will continue to accrue during all paid leaves of absences.

(3) Seniority will not be terminated by an unpaid leave of absence or employment by the Board in a position outside of the bargaining unit. During an unpaid leave of absence or employment by the Board in a position outside of the bargaining unit, the Employee shall accrue no further seniority. However, Employees who have a job related accident or injury and who are on disability or workers compensation may continue to accrue up to one year of seniority while on leave.

(4) Seniority shall operate within the following groups:

- a. PK-5 b. 6-8
- c. 9-12
- d. PK-12

A seniority list of names and years of employment with the Employer shall be maintained and distributed yearly by the Superintendent or his/her designee. A copy of the seniority list shall be posted in each school building on or before September 30. Protests of errors in or omissions from the seniority list must be made within thirty (30) calendar days.

SECTION B. Staff Reduction

In the event the Employer determines that Employees must be laid off, the following procedures will be pursued:

- a. Layoffs/reductions shall be affected within seniority groups as outlined in A4.
- b. Employees in reduction area (determined by groups A4) with temporary, emergency or conditional license will be first Employee(s) to be reduced.
- c. Probationary Employees in a seniority group shall be laid off next, unless considered necessary to maintain a program or teach a subject area in present teaching group.
- d. Non-probationary employee(s) in the seniority group will be laid off on the following basis, weighing each numbered criteria equally:
 - 1. Seniority
 - 2. Total years of teaching experience
 - 3. Formal evaluations over the current and three previous school years (this is to include evaluation of yearly teacher career development plan)
- e. Employees, within a seniority group as defined in A4 of this Article, will be ranked by applying the above criteria, and the Employees with the lowest rank shall be subject to reduction provided that the Employer shall not be required to

reduce an Employee considered necessary to maintain a program or to teach a subject area.

SECTION C. An Employee who has been transferred or reassigned to a different seniority group and who is to be laid off from the new group shall be returned to the seniority group from which the Employee was transferred or reassigned and considered for termination with the members of the prior seniority group.

ARTICLE VI INSURANCE

SECTION A. Payments

The District will pay up to nine hundred and fifty dollars (\$950.00) per month per teacher toward the current group hospital, medical and major medical and dental insurance based upon current medical and dental premium expenses. In the event of any financial savings occasioned by a reduction in premiums or a change in medical insurance or dental providers, such cost savings shall revert to the District; provided, however, that any employees currently enrolled in the dental insurance program and who are not now paying premiums therefore shall continue in such program without additional premium cost to said employees. The Association shall have the option of adding or dropping unlimited diagnostic x-ray and laboratory (DXL) insurance to their coverage at the time the premium rates become known. The District will provide a long term disability plan for all certificated personnel rated at 66% of earnings.

SECTION B. Coverage

The group hospital, medical, and major medical insurance, dental insurance, shall be for twelve consecutive months beginning September of the contract year and continuing through the following August. Employees whose work is severed by resignation or dismissal in the system before the end of the work year shall be dropped from the District's group insurance roll. This will not apply to employees on leave of absence, or employees who do not renew their contract for the following year. Certificated employees' insurance benefits will be prorated for part time employment.

SECTION C. Continuation

Employees on a non-paid Board approved leave for one month or longer shall have the option to continue any or all of the group hospital, medical, major medical or dental insurance by paying the premiums themselves to the Board prior to the billing date.

SECTION D. Selection of Carriers

Selection of carriers will be made by the Board provided that the current coverage will not be decreased. Insurance coverage will be equal to plan in effect during the 2001-02 school year.

A. Schedule

The salary of each employee shall be determined in conjunction with the regular salary schedule that is attached hereto as Schedule I and made a part of this agreement.

B. Placement on the Salary Schedule

1) <u>Credit for Experience</u>

Full credit may be given for up to fifteen (15) years successful teaching experience earned outside the Cardinal Community School District. This provision shall not be retroactive. New employees with previous experience will be placed on the schedule with people of equal years experience and education.

- (2) <u>Increments</u> Employees on the salary schedule adopted in this contract shall be granted one increment on vertical step on the schedule for each successful year of service until the maximum for their educational classification is reached. A year of service in the District shall consist of at least one semester of service to the District in a given year.
- (3) <u>Educational Lanes</u>
 - (a) When employees are on the last step of the BA Lane for more than one year and qualify for the BA+15 lane they shall move over and down two steps
 - (b) In order for a teacher to move from one education lane to another the teacher must file evidence of approved graduate credits on or before September 15 each year. The change in education lanes will occur no later than September of each year.
- (4) <u>Nurses Salary</u>

An RN certified school nurse shall receive a salary of 90% of the BA lane, including steps. A BA/BSN certified school nurse shall receive a salary of 100% of the BA lane, including steps. A certified school nurse with an MA degree within the field will be placed on the MA lane.

(5) <u>Longevity Pay</u> When the maximum is reached for BA+30, BA+45/MA, MA+15 and MA+30, the employee shall be granted an increase of 1% of the current BA base for each year beyond the maximum allowed by the regular Salary Schedule I. This began with the 1985-86 school year and is not retroactive, and shall be limited to five steps.

C. To qualify for the BA+30 column, twenty hours must be in the field in which the employee is teaching. Exceptions to this may be made with the Superintendent's approval. To qualify for the BA+45 column, all classes must be in the Employee's curricular area and must be approved in advance at the Superintendent's discretion. To qualify for the MA column, the degree must be in the employee's teaching field.

D. The salary schedule is based on the school calendar of 192 days. A teacher whose work days exceed 192 days will have his or her contract adjusted by adding the per diem salary, based on 192 day contract salary, for each additional work day. Per diem salary shall be calculated based on the teacher's Schedule I salary only.

E. Method of Payment

(1) <u>Pay Periods</u>

Each employee will be paid in twenty-four (24) installments on the fifth (5th) and the twentieth (20th) of each month. Employees will receive checks at their assigned buildings unless otherwise designated by the employee.

- (2) <u>Summer Checks</u> Summer checks will be mailed to the address designated by the employee.
- (3) <u>New Teachers</u> Employees who are new to the teaching profession may, at their option, elect to receive up to \$500 of their first salary installment after completion of the first contract day provided all necessary state and local requirements have been completed.
- (4) <u>Final Pay</u> Retiring employees shall have the option of receiving all or part of their earned, contracted salary on/before June 30 of the summer in which they retire.
- F. Supplemental Pay

Regarding summer activities, this pay shall be based on the Extra Duty Schedule and Supplementary Duty Pay Schedule, which are in effect at the end of the school year.

- G. The Board will release any teacher from a contract for the following year prior to June 15 of the year of employment. Resignations after June 15 will be accepted only if a suitable replacement can be found, and the cost of securing the placement is paid by the teacher. This shall include such itemized costs as advertising, phone calls, and mileage from interviews, and shall not exceed \$1,500.00.
- H. Employees who are assigned a regular extra class will be compensated at the rate of an additional one eighth of their annual salary for each extra class. For the purpose of this Section, an extra class is defined as one that is assigned in lieu of a preparation period or where a teacher is assigned to teach two subjects during a single class period.
- I. <u>Supplemental Duty Assignment</u> Those duties requiring time on Saturday, Sunday or holidays shall be paid 1¹/₂ times the hourly rate.
- J. Teacher Supplemental Salary (TSS) The Cardinal School District shall distribute Teacher Salary Supplement (TSS) dollars received from the state on an annual basis as described below:
 - 1. The District's share of FICA, Medicare, and IPERS shall be deducted from the TSS allocation.
 - 2. Ninety-five percent (95%) of the remaining funds will be distributed equally among all eligible employees. If the locally negotiated salary of any teacher is below the state minimum, the necessary portion of his/her equal share of TSS money will be used to raise his/her salary to the minimum. (Extended contract days will be excluded from FTE calculations).
 - 3. The remaining five percent (5%) of TSS dollars will be distributed in the March 20th pay check after adjustments have been made based on any employment changes during the contract year that increase or decrease the FTE eligible for the funds.

ARTICLE VIII EMPLOYEE EVALUATION

SECTION A. By September 30th of each school year, a member of the administrative staff shall acquaint employees with the evaluation procedures, criteria, and instruments. An employee starting work after the beginning of the school year shall be given such notification no later than one (1) week prior to the first formal evaluation.

SECTION B. Formal observation of work performance of a teacher shall be conducted openly. A copy of the Post-Observation Reflection Form shall be given to the principal within five (5) working days of the observation. A conference shall be held between the principal and the teacher within ten (10) days of the observation. This time may be extended by mutual agreement. The teacher shall sign the evaluator's copy acknowledging receipt of the teacher's copy. The teacher's signature on the observation or evaluation form shall be understood to indicate his or her awareness of the material but in no instance shall said signature be interpreted to mean agreement with content of the material.

SECTION C. The teacher shall have the right to submit a written response regarding any aspect of the evaluation. The written response shall be made on the form provided by the District and shall be submitted within ten (10) working days of the conference. Any material including written complaints used for evaluation purposes shall not be placed in the teacher's personnel file without the employee's knowledge.

SECTION D. Tier I Beginning Teacher shall mean an individual serving under an initial provisional license, issued by the Board of Educational Examiners, under chapter 272 who is assuming a position as a classroom teacher. Tier I teachers will be formally observed by their principal at least three times at mutually agreed upon times. The first two formal observations will be conducted prior to 1 February of each contract year. The third formal observation and summative report will be completed no later than 15 April of each contract year. These observations will focus upon the Iowa Teaching Standards and Criteria. Each observation will include a pre-conference and a feedback conference. The District will provide a form for the summative evaluation report.

SECTION E. Probationary Career Teacher shall mean an individual who holds a valid practitioner's license but has served less than two years in the District. Tier II, probationary career teachers, will be formally observed by their principal at least two times at mutually agreed upon times. The first formal evaluation will occur prior to 1February of each contract year. The second formal observation and a summative report will be completed by 15 April of each contract year. These observations will focus upon the Iowa Teaching Standards and Criteria. Each observation will include a preconference and a feedback conference. The District will provide a form for the summative evaluation report.

SECTION F. Tier II teachers shall annually design their own professional growth plan in consultation with building principals. These process plans are formulated into a written document called an "Individual Career Development Plan."

SECTION G. At least once every three years, Tier II teacher's performance shall be evaluated by a building principal on each of the Iowa Teaching Standards and Criteria. Each standard will be rated as "meets standard" or "does not meet standard". Each standard's criteria will not be

rated but will be used as a reference point for gathering evidence to overall performance on each standard. Artifacts related to each teacher's annual professional learning plan would be used as documentation when completing the summative evaluation.

SECTION H. Tier II teachers will be formally observed by their principal at least once during the performance review cycle. The observation will occur at a mutually agreed upon time. The formal observation shall occur prior to 15 April. The observation will focus on the Iowa Teaching Standards and Criteria. The observation will include a preconference and a feedback conference. The District will provide a form for the summative evaluation report.

SECTION I. This Article deals with but a single method of evaluation, i.e. formal evaluative observation of teacher/certified staff performance. Nothing in this Article is to be construed as precluding evaluation of teacher/certified staff based on informal observations of conduct during school hours and at school activities and their ability to carry out other assigned duties outside of the classroom. Any complaints directed toward an employee that are placed in his/her personnel file shall be promptly called to the teacher's attention in writing before being placed in the file.

SECTION J. Each employee shall have the right to review the contents of his/her personnel file. College placement credentials are specifically excluded from this review.

SECTION K. An employee who has been evaluated has the right to grieve evaluations as provided by Iowa law through the grievance procedure set forth in this contract.

SECTION L. Any adverse criticism of employees shall be made in confidence and never in the presence of students or parents, or in other public gatherings. An employee shall be notified in writing of any complaint that is being placed in his/her personnel file. The employee shall have seven (7) working days to submit a written response to the complaint for inclusion in the personnel file.

ARTICLE IX SICK LEAVES & EMERGENCY LEAVES

SECTION A. Sick Leave

Employees shall be given a copy of a written accounting of accumulated sick leave days no later than September 15th of each school year. Absence with pay will be allowed for personal illness or injury with full pay as follows:

First year of employment	11 days
Second year of employment	12 days
Third year of employment	13 days
Fourth year of employment	14 days
Fifth year of employment	15 days
Subsequent years	15 days

The above amounts shall apply only to consecutive years of employment in the same system with the accumulated past sick leave, credited current sick leave, and personal leave shall not, be more than a total of 120 days. However, when an employee has accumulated 120 days at the beginning of each school year, he/she shall receive the

additional 15 days and their total accumulation shall remain at 120 days as long as 15 or fewer days of sick leave are used during the school year. If an employee's service is interrupted by Reduction in Force, employee shall retain sick leave earned prior to Reduction in Force and be credited with that amount at reinstatement as an employee. The Board can and may require such evidence of illness as it desires. Upon retirement, the teacher shall be remunerated for the unused leave at 25% of substitute pay not to exceed \$1,200.

SECTION B. Immediate Family Illness Leave

Employees shall be granted leave of absence at full pay for illness in the immediate family not to exceed five days per year. Immediate family shall mean, except in unusual circumstances: (a) spouse and children (b) father or mother; (c) brother or sister (in immediate household or seriously ill); (d) grandchildren who are under the employee's legal guardianship or living in the household without either parent present (proof must be supplied). When the employee's five (5) days of immediate family illness leave have been used, the employee may acquire extra days of leave in exchange for the present year's sick leave at the rate of (2) sick leave days for each additional day of immediate family illness leave.

An Employee will be paid \$40 for each of the unused five family leave days during the present year. This will be paid on the June 20 paycheck.

SECTION C. Funerals

Employees shall be granted a leave of absence at full pay for funerals in the immediate family not to exceed five days per death, except in unusual circumstances. Immediate shall mean: (a) spouse and children, (b) father, mother, brother or sister of either spouse; (c) grandparents of either spouse; (d) grandchildren. Employees shall also be granted a leave of absence at full pay for funerals of brother-in-law or sister-in-law of either spouse not to exceed one (1) day per death except in an unusual circumstance as determined at the sole discretion of the Superintendent of Schools.

SECTION D. Personal Leave

Each employee will be granted two days of personal leave annually. Requests are to be submitted to the principal or immediate supervisor at least two days in advance, except in unusual circumstances, and will be granted as long as demand does not exceed availability of substitutes. These are for obligations and activities that are not covered under other leaves. The employee shall not be required to explain the reason for the leave. No leave shall be granted the day before or day after scheduled vacations except in an unusual circumstance as determined by the Superintendent of Schools. Unused personal days may accumulate to a maximum of four (4) days, if unused the previous year. Days carried over from the previous year will be used for the purpose of the employee conducting personal business that cannot be taken care of outside of the regular work day and is not covered under any other leaves to which the employee has available days. The employee shall notify the district when the leave is for personal business. Beyond that unused personal days shall be added to teachers sick day accumulation, but

accumulated sick leave, credited sick leave, and unused personal days shall not be more than a total of 120 days.

SECTION E. Absence Without Pay

Each employee shall be granted absence without pay, up to 2 days per school year. No leave shall be granted the day before or day after scheduled vacations except in an unusual circumstance as determined by the Superintendent of Schools. Additional absences without pay may be granted, at the discretion of the superintendent. Deductions from the employee's salary will be made in accordance with the School District's pay deductions regulations. Extra duty pay shall not be deducted if the employee's extra duty is not applicable. An employee shall make application for authorization at least ten days in advance of the occurrence or if advance application is not possible not later than ten days after the occurrence. This section applies to employees requested absence without pay leave and does not apply toward the extension of Sections A, B, and C.

SECTION F. Association Leave

Up to six days leave shall be available for representatives of the Association to attend conferences and conventions of the local, state, and national affiliated organizations. When a substitute is necessary, the Association shall pay for the cost of the substitute. When grievance arbitrations must be scheduled on working hours, up to three (3) representatives and/or witnesses of the Association, including the grievant, will be granted a leave of absence to attend the hearing at no loss of pay.

SECTION G. Jury Leave

Any employee called for jury duty during school hours shall be provided such time. Any fees or remuneration the employee receives during such leave shall be turned over to the District. Any employee subpoenaed to testify in proceedings arising out of the employee's teaching responsibilities, including but not limited to witnessing of events arising out of said responsibilities, or activities conducted by the Department of Human Services, not generated by the employee or employee, and requiring employee's attendance during school hours, shall be provided such time with pay. Any fees or remuneration the employee receives during such leave shall be turned over to the District by the employee. Paid leave request must be documented by the employee to the Superintendent at least twenty-four (24) hours before the leave is effective and said leave shall not exceed three (3) days per annum.

SECTION H. Professional Leave

Employees, with the approval of their Principal and Superintendent, maybe granted professional leave for the purpose of attending conferences, workshops, or seminars conducted by colleges, universities, or other educational institutions or organizations. Such leave shall be related to the duties the employee performs for the school district and shall not be used for local association functions, or ISEA district and state meetings. Approval for professional leave may be contingent on availability of substitutes, number of requests on the same day, financial resources, etc. Requests to the principal for professional leave shall be submitted at least one week in advance. If an employee is requested by the administration to attend a professional meeting, the school will assume the cost of registration, meals, lodging, and mileage. If professional leave is granted at the request of the employee, the school will reimburse the employee for mileage to and from the meeting; all other costs shall be paid by the employee.

SECTION I. Sabbatical Leave

A. <u>Purpose</u>

The Board may grant an employee an unpaid sabbatical leave for study (including study in another area of specialization), for travel, or for other reasons of value to the employee. The employee shall have the opportunity to continue all fringe benefits at their own expense.

B. Conditions Sabbatical leave may be granted subject to the following conditions:

- 1. <u>Percentage of Employees</u>. If there are sufficient qualified applicants, sabbatical leaves may be granted to a maximum of five percent (5%) of employees at any one time.
- 2. <u>Requests</u> Requests for sabbatical leave shall be presented to a jointly established Sabbatical Leave Committee (SLC), which Committee shall determine applicants' qualifications for sabbatical leave in accordance with the requirements it shall prescribe. The SLC shall be composed of an equal number of Board and Association members representing the elementary and secondary teaching levels. The Association shall appoint its members of the SLC. Requests containing the information prescribed by the SLC shall be submitted no later than the first week of January. Recommendations from the SLC to the Board for action on such requests must be made no later than April 30 of the school year preceding the school year for which the leave is requested.
- 3. <u>Minimum Time to Qualify</u>. In order to qualify for a sabbatical leave, the employee must have completed at least seven (7) full years of service in this District and agree to work for the District at least one (1) year after the sabbatical leave.
- 4. <u>Remuneration</u>. During the period of sabbatical leave, the employee may accept grants or fellowships, or may engage in remunerative employment.
- 5. <u>Return</u>. Upon return from sabbatical leave, an employee shall be placed on the salary schedule then in effect at the step following the step they were on during their last year of teaching. If additional credit hours were earned he/she will be placed on the appropriate step of the salary schedule.

SECTION J. Any decision by the Superintendent to approve or deny extension of leaves due to unusual circumstances shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

SECTION K. Non Cumulative Leaves in Sections B, C, D, F, G, & H of this Article are annual leaves and are not cumulative.

ARTICLE X HEALTH PROVISIONS

SECTION A. First year teachers in the District are required to have a physical examination. The District will pay up to \$50.00 toward the cost of the physical examination required by the District.

ARTICLE XI SAFETY PROVISIONS

- 1. In the event of an emergency situation that threatens the safety of students and employees, the employees will be required to assist in providing for student safety.
- 2. A teacher may use such force as is necessary to protect himself/herself from attack or to prevent injury to another teacher or student.
- 3. In case of a bomb threat, no employee shall be required to search for a bomb.
- 4. A crisis plan will be in place and reviewed yearly with employees.

ARTICLE XII VACANCIES

When a vacancy occurs in a teaching position during the school year and the District desires to permanently fill the position, the position will be posted in the faculty lounge for three work days and emailed to teachers. When a vacancy occurs in a teaching position during summer vacation, notification of the vacancy will be mailed to employees who have pre-filed requests for notification of such summer vacancies. Pre-filed requests for notification must be submitted by June 1. Vacancies shall be posted in the school administrative office. Pre-filed requests are valid for one year from date of receipt. The summer vacancy will not be filled until seven calendar days after date of mailing or posting, whichever is later.

In the case of extra duty positions each year, prior to the issuance of contracts, a listing of all duty positions listed in Schedule II will be given to all teachers. If any teacher is interested in filling any one or more of these positions, they shall indicate interest in that position in the event that such a vacancy occurs and return the form to the Superintendent's office. This will constitute a notice of such vacancies and an application on their part for the extra duty vacancy.

ARTICLE XIII DUES DEDUCTION

SECTION A. All members of the Association or any person applying for membership will sign and deliver to the District Secretary a form authorizing payroll deductions of annual dues for membership in only the CEA, the ISEA, and the NEA.

SECTION B. Payroll dues deductions shall be arranged whereby dues will be deducted from each authorized employee's check in equal bi-monthly installments.

SECTION C. The Association shall provide the District Board Secretary with an authorized list of members' names for whom membership dues are to be deducted and the amount to be withheld for each member. The authorized list shall be submitted twelve (12) days prior to the District's monthly payroll in which the deduction is to commence.

SECTION D. The Cardinal Community School District will transmit to the Association the total monthly deductions ten (10) days after the last pay period each month.

SECTION E. Excluded from this provision of this Master Contract Agreement shall be initiation fees, special assessment, back dues, fine, or similar items.

SECTION F. It shall be the responsibility of the Association to inform members of the voluntary dues deduction system and procedure.

SECTION G. The Association does hereby agree to indemnify the Board, each individual Board member, and all administrators against any and all claims, costs, suits, or other forms of liability, including court costs arising but of the application of the provisions of this Master Contract Agreement relating to dues deduction.

ARTICLE XIV EMPLOYEE HOURS

- SECTION A. In the pupils' day employees shall have in addition to their lunch period, a daily break during which they shall not be assigned any other duties as follows:
 - (a) Elementary -Every teacher shall have one, 25-minute break period per day plus a minimum of one 15 minute break period per day.
 - (b) Junior High Minimum of a 40 minute break period per day.
 - (c) High School Minimum of a 40 minute break period per day.
 - (d) Titled compensation for assuming another's duty is \$10 per 1/2 hour (i.e. \$15/45 minutes). The above work would be done during the employee's break time.

ARTICLE XV TRANSFER PROCEDURES

A. Transfers-shall be defined as movement of an employee to a different assignment, grade level, subject area or building.

B. Voluntary Transfer

Employee-requested transfers

- 1. In order to give all employees a chance to apply for a transfer, any position open as a result of resignation, termination, or transfer that is to be filled by a permanent employee shall be posted.
- 2. An employee who desires a transfer may file a written statement with the office of the Superintendent or the Principal of the teacher.
- 3. If one or more employee(s) has requested the same position, and a transfer or reassignment is under consideration, the criteria to be considered shall be:

- a) The relative skills, abilities, and competence of the candidate as determined through previous formal evaluations and interviews with the administrator(s) involved.
- b) The academic preparation and certification required for the position.
- c) Seniority, certification, and academic preparation.
- d) If such a vacancy occurs, and the request is denied, the Superintendent or his or her designee shall cause a written notice to be given to the employee concerning the denial as soon as practical following the decision.
- 4. If an employee's request for transfer is denied, they shall receive a prompt written notice.
- C. <u>Involuntary Transfer</u> Administrative-initiated transfers
 - 1. The provisions of paragraph B shall be implemented to allow for voluntary transfer before an involuntary transfer is made.
 - 2. The Superintendent or the Principal of the teacher shall inform the employee in writing of the reasons for the transfer.
 - 3. If the employee requests, the employee may have a conference with the Principal and Superintendent on the reasons for the transfer within five (5) school days of the request by the employee.
 - 4. If the involuntary transfer is necessary within a building, whenever possible, employees in that building will be transferred in the reverse order of seniority. No employee shall be transferred involuntarily without good cause and definite reason, and the District shall show cause and state reasons, in writing, for the involuntary transfer.

ARTICLE XVI TEACHER QUALITY COMMITTEE

Teacher Quality Committee

The members of the Teacher Quality Committee and the administration will determine how the money allocated to them will be disbursed to the staff.

ARTICLE XVII BASIC AGREEMENT

A. If any provisions or applications of this Agreement are held to be contrary to law them such provision or application shall not be deemed valid except to the extent permitted by law. All other provisions or applications shall continue in full force and effect. Whenever any notice is required to be given by either of the parties to this Agreement to the other, either party shall do so by letter in person at the following designated address or at such other address as may be determined by a party in written notification of the other part.

If by the Association, to the Board at: Office of the Superintendent Cardinal Community Schools Eldon, IA 52554

If by the Board, to the Association at:

President, Cardinal Education Association Cardinal Community Schools Eldon, IA 52554

B. This agreement will be posted on the district website. The Superintendent's office will provide printed copies of the Agreement to employees upon request. The association will be provided ten (10) printed copies. A copy of this Agreement shall be made available to prospective employees when presented a contract for consideration.

C. The duration of the Agreement will extend from July 1, 2011 to June 30, 2013.

D. In witness thereof, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be signed by their respective presidents, attested by their chief negotiators and their signatures placed thereon, all on the 16^{th} day of August, 2011.

CARDINAL EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

Chief Negotiator

Debuch & Van Hern

Association President Jould R Hants

CARDINAL COMMUNITY SCHOOLS

Chief Negotiator

Board of Education President

Mike Kapon

SCHEDULE I

2017-18 Salary Schedule

GENERATOR BASE: \$28,065

This schedule has Teacher Quality Funds included. (\$3,703 each)*

STEP	BA	BA+15	BA+30	BA+45/ MA	MA+15	MA+30	RN	BSN
0	31,768	33,452	34,294	35,136	36,820	37,662	28,962	31,768
1	32,891	34,575	35,416	36,258	37,942	38,784	29,803	32,891
2	34,013	35,697	36,539	37,381	39,065	39,907	30,645	34,013
3	35,136	36,820	37,662	38,504	40,188	41,029	31,487	35,136
4	36,258	37,942	38,784	39,626	41,310	42,152	32,329	36,258
5	37,381	39,065	39,907	40,749	42,433	43,275	33,171	37,381
6	38,504	40,188	41,029	41,871	43,555	44,397	34,013	38,504
7	39,626	41,310	42,152	42,994	44,678	45,520	34,855	39,626
8	40,749	42,433	43,275	44,117	45,801	46,642	35,697	40,749
9	41,871	43,555	44,397	45,239	46,923	47,765	36,539	41,871
10	42,994	44,678	45,520	46,362	48,046	48,888	37,381	42,994
11		45,801	46,642	47,484	49,168	50,010		
12		46,923	47,765	48,607	50,291	51,133		
13		48,046	48,888	49,730	51,414	52,255		
14		49,168	50,010	50,852	52,536	53,378		
15			50,291	51,975	53,659	54,501		
16			50,572	52,255	53,939	54,781		
17			50,852	52,536	54,220	55,062		
18			51,133	52,817	54,501	55,343		
19			51,414	53,097	54,781	55,623		
20				53,378	55,062	55,904		

*Teacher Salary Supplement (TSS) funding is based on an annual allocation from the state. From the total TSS allocation, (minus Phase II money equal to 16.11%) FICA, IPERS will first be withheld. The remaining funds will be distributed equally among all eligible employees. If the locally negotiated salary of any teacher is below the state minimum, the necessary portion of his/her equal share of TSS money will be used to raise his/her salary to the minimum.

SCHEDULE II EXTRA DUTY <u>% BA Generator Base</u>

	2%	2.5%	3%	3.5%	4%	4.5%	6.5%	7%	8%	10%	12%	14%	18%
Year													
11	7%	7.5%	8%	8.5%	9%	9.5%	11.5%	12%	13%	15%	17%	19%	23%
10													
9	6%	6.5%	7%	7.5%	8%	8.5%	10.5%	11%	12%	14%	16%	18%	22%
8													
7	5%	5.5%	6%	6.5%	7%	7.5%	9.5%	10%	11%	13%	15%	17%	21%
6													
5	4%	4.5%	5%	5.5%	6%	6.5%	8.5%	9%	10%	12%	14%	16%	20%
4													
3	3%	3.5%	4%	4.5%	5%	5.5%	7.5%	8%	9%	11%	13%	15%	19%
2													
1	2%	2.5%	3%	3.5%	4%	4.5%	6.5%	7%	8%	10%	12%	14%	18%
	2%			3.5%	l		6.5%				10%		
	EL/MS \	/OCAL		FCCLA			HS Ybook/Club				Cross Country		
				Senior Class Art Club							HS Ass't		
											FB,VB,BB,WR,BB		R,BB,SB,TR
				Foreign	Lang						FFA		
				NHS									
	0.54						===				100(
	2.5%			4%			7%				12%		
	MS STUCO						JR Head & Ass't			HS Track			
	SAT Mock Trial		Jr/Sr Audio Vis EL Audio Vis		FB,VB,BB,WR,TR,SB		TR,SB		HS/JR Band HS/MS/EL Cho				
				MS/EL Y							Tech Di	r & Ass't	
				HS YDOC	ok/Class								
	3%			4.5%			8%				14%		
	HS Speech		HS STUCO		HS Choir/Vocal				HS FB,VB,WR,BB,Base,SB				
	Quiz Bowl		HS Cheer		Tech Dir								
			HS Drama			HS & EL Choir/Vocal				18%			
			Jr Class							K-12 Ac	tivities D	Director	
		JR Cheer											

Some of the positions listed above are alternatives. Not all positions will be filled.

All clubs and organizations are considered active if they meet at least monthly for an hour in applicable seasons and follow all national charter obligations. Minutes from the monthly meetings shall be submitted to the Superintendent within one week following each meeting.

At the start of the third year, fifth year, seventh year, ninth year, and eleventh year, those individuals on Schedule II that have remained in the same position at Cardinal shall receive an additional 1%. However, employees shall be limited to receiving a maximum of 5% additional beyond the base rate for the position. Employees who transfer positions within the same Schedule II activity shall be allowed to take their years of experience with them to the new position. New hires can bring in up to five years prior experience on a year for year basis in the same position, except high school head coaches can bring in up to eight years prior experience for prior high school head coaching experience in the same sport. High school head coaches bringing in eight years of experience remain subject to the 5% experience cap applicable to all of Schedule II.

Any current exceptions (as of 2008-09 school year) to Schedule II will be grandfathered into Schedule II for the current employee(s) only. New hires will be subject to Schedule II and will not receive any previously grandfathered exceptions.

SCHEDULE III SUPPLEMENTAL DUTY PAY

Only the superintendent, building principals, and the Activities Director can pre-approve volunteers or assign staff members to perform duties at school activities. Staff members who have been pre-approved or assigned to perform duties will be paid at the rate of \$12.00 per hour. Alternatively, the District may arrange for outside volunteers in lieu of approving or assigning staff members to perform duties at school activities.

In order to be paid, the staff member must, within ten (10) working days of the event, submit to the board secretary documentation (such as the Schedule III Pay Form) signed by the superintendent, building principal, or the Activities Director verifying pre-approval to perform the duty and including the number of hours worked.

CARDINAL CEA GRIEVANCE FORM

Informal Level

Aggrieved Party:

Building:

Article/Section of Agreement:

Date of Violation:

Principal/Supervisor:

Date of Conference:

Formal Step I — Immediate Supervisor

A. Date Filed:

B. Statement of Grievance:

C. Relief Sought:

Date:

Signature of Aggrieved:

D. Disposition by Principal or Immediate Supervisor:

Date:

Signature of Principal:

Formal Step Two — Superintendent

A. Signature of Aggrieved Person:

Date Received by Superintendent or Designee:

B. Disposition of Superintendent or Designee:

Formal Step Three — **Arbitration**

A. Signature of Aggrieved Person:

Signature of Association President:

- B. Date Submitted to Arbitration:
- C. Disposition and Award of Arbitration:

Date of Decision:

Arbitrator:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING Between The CARDINAL EDUCATION ASSOCIATION And The CARDINAL COMMUNITY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Tobacco Use on School Property

The employees agree to abide by the district policy regarding tobacco use on district property and shall not use tobacco on school grounds. Employees shall be allowed to leave the school property up to two times per day, not to exceed 10 minutes off the property each time. Leaving school property shall be during their scheduled lunch period or other non-student contact time, but shall not be during the first thirty minutes or last thirty minutes of the workday. In addition, employees shall be provided with the option to enroll in a tobacco cessation program at the district's expense.

CARDINAL EDUCATION ASSOCIATION Chief Negotiator CARDINAL COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Chief Negotiator

Date: _____